NO. 46892-1-II

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

HOKESHINA LEE TOLBERT,

Appellant.

OPENING BRIEF

Stacy Kinzer 705 Second Ave., Ste. 1300 Seattle, WA 98104-1767 (206) 224-8777 Attorney for Appellant Hokeshina Lee Tolbert

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court erred by accepting Mr. Tolbert's guilty plea without ensuring that it was knowing, voluntary, and intelligent and that Tolbert understood elements of the crime to which he was pleading.

2. The trial court erred by accepting Mr. Tolbert's guilty plea on an insufficient factual basis.

3. The trial court erred by accepting Mr. Tolbert's plea and sentencing him without resolving the legitimate question of competency raised by defense counsel.

ISSUES RELATING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1.a. Was sufficient evidence established on the record to ensure that Mr. Tolbert understood the law as it related to the facts and meet the factual basis requirement of CrR4.2(d)?

1.b. Should the trial court have taken Mr. Tolbert's age, maturity, and degree of literacy into account when determining whether his plea was knowing, voluntary, and intelligent?

2. Did the admission that Mr. Tolbert retrieved the gun from the garage coupled with the separate statement that "I knew Michael was going to use it to shoot somebody" constitute a sufficient factual basis for a conviction of second degree murder, even though there is no indication that when Mr. Tolbert retrieved the gun, he knew that Mr. Mee intended to kill another human being, or that Tolbert intended to assist or encourage this killing by retrieving the gun?

3. Defense counsel indicated that a competency evaluation should be ordered and evidence in the record supported this request. Once raised, was the court required to resolve the issue of competency before a valid plea could be entered and sentence imposed?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arose out of a drive-by shooting which resulted in the tragic death of 32-year-old Tracy Steele. Hokeshina Tolbert was not an occupant of the car from which the shooting took place – instead, the act which gave rise to his criminal liability was his compliance with his older cousin's request to retrieve a gun from the garage of the house where they were both residing.

I. The Facts of the Crime

At age 16, Hokeshina Tolbert was living in the detached garage at the residence of his cousin, Camille Bluehorse. Camille's younger brother, Dan Bluehorse, age 20, was also living at the residence.

On the night of the murder, Mr. Tolbert and Mr. Bluehorse were drinking beer and liquor at the Bluehorse residence with Marjorie Morales, and brothers Jose and Jesus Cota Ancheta. *See State v. Mee*, 168 Wn. App. 144, 275 P.3d 1192 (2012).

Meanwhile, Michael Mee was at a party at a different location and became involved in a fight. He was upset because one of his fellow gang members, Charles Pitts, was also present at that party, but did not come to his aid during the altercation. CP:18-19. Mee got the worst of the fight and was knocked to the ground. CP:19. He left the scene in a car driven by Tanya Satack along with three female passengers. *Id.* Mee was angry that he had been jumped and that Pitts had not come to his aid. CP:19-20.

Mee directed Satack to drive to the Bluehorse residence; once there Mee exited the car and approached the residence alone. CP:20. Mee did not go inside the Bluehorse residence, but while standing at the door, stated that he had been "jumped" and needed their help. *Id.* He was primarily speaking to Dan Bluehorse, and specifically asked Bluehorse for the "thing," meaning the rifle. *Id.* Bluehorse turned to Tolbert and told him to go get the "thing" from the garage. *Id.* Tolbert complied, retrieving the gun where it had been hidden in the rafters of the garage, and returned to the house. *Id.*

Mee, Bluehorse, Morales, and both Cota Ancheta brothers got in Ms. Morales' car and headed back towards the party; Jesus was driving and Mee was in the front passenger seat with the rifle. CP:20. Meanwhile, Tolbert got into Ms. Satack's car, still containing three other passengers, and Satack followed Mee's vehicle. CP:21. While riding by the house where he'd been "jumped," Mee fired two shots from the rifle. CP:21. At least one shot struck Tracy Steele, and he died a short time later from this wound. CP:21.

Satack had lost sight of the Mee vehicle before it arrived at the crime scene; after hearing gun shots nearby, she turned her car around and drove away. *Mee*, 168 Wn.2d at 150. Moments later, Satack caught sight of the Mee vehicle and followed it back to the Bluehorse residence. *Id.* The two vehicles returned to the Bluehorse residence, and everyone dispersed. CP:21.

II. The Charges and Plea Hearing

Mr. Tolbert was charged as an adult under the automatic decline statute, RCW 13.04.030(1)(e)(v)(A). He was initially charged by an Information filed on July 2, 2008, with one count of first-degree murder and one count of second-degree unlawful possession of a firearm. CP:1-2. The state offered to reduce the charges to one count of second-degree murder in exchange for a guilty plea and Tolbert's testimony at his codefendants' trials. *See* Plea Agreement, CP:41-44.

Tolbert accepted the deal and pled guilty to the amended information on January 28, 2009. The Statement of Defendant on Plea of Guilty reads:

On May 10, 2008, in Pierce Co Washington Michael Mee came to my cousin's house and asked for a gun. I went and got a 30-30 rifle from the garage. Michael Mee took the gun, and went to the residence where Tracy Steele was at. I was in a car following another car Michael Mee was riding in. I watched Michael Mee fire two shots at the house. Tracy Steele was hit by the bullets and died.

Jesus Cota Ancheta was driving the car Michael Mee fired the shots from. I knew Michael Mee was going to use the gun to shoot someone.

Statement of Defendant on Plea of Guilty, CP:39.

The first paragraph of the statement is signed with Tolbert's full name. The second paragraph appears to be added later, and is initialed "HLT." CP:39.

A plea hearing was held on January 28, 2009. Defense counsel began the hearing by explaining that he had reviewed the Statement on Plea of Guilty and the Plea Agreement with Mr. Tolbert the night before at the jail. 1/28/09 TR:3-4. The court confirmed with Tolbert that he had reviewed the forms with his lawyer, and that they had had enough time to talk about them. *Id.* at 5. Throughout the hearing, Tolbert responded to all of the court's questions with a "yes" or "no" answer. 1/28/09 TR:3-11.

Regarding the factual basis of the plea, the court made the following inquiry:

THE COURT: And in the 11th paragraph, it's written what you did that supports this plea. Did you go over and read what was written in paragraph 11? It starts out, "On May 10th, 2008, in Pierce County," and then talks about what happened.

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Is that a true statement?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Basically, it says that your role in this was providing the rifle that became the murder weapon; is that right?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

1/28/09 TR:8-9.

Sentencing was set for April 3, 2009. Tolbert was held without bail, and the proceedings concluded. 1/28/09 TR:10-11.

III. Mr. Tolbert's Attempts to Withdraw His Plea Prior to Sentencing

Although the sentencing hearing had been set for April 3, at the state's request the sentencing was held over seven times, and Tolbert was not sentenced until March 12, 2010, well over a year after the plea hearing. During that lengthy interval, Tolbert attempted to withdraw his plea twice, complaining that he could not contact his lawyer, he had been coerced into taking the plea, and his lawyer had mislead him about his possible sentencing exposure.

Tolbert filed a "Declaration ... Regarding Plea Bargain" on March 18, 2009, CP:45-46. This Declaration states:

1. My lawyer Dana Ryan mislead me into taking a 10 year max deal when I signed I found out it was 18 year max if I knew that I wouldve never signed.

- 2. I feel my lawyer is trying to force me to take this deal by not communicating with me.
- 3. I believe I was coerced into making statements on July, first, 2008.

There is no response in the record to Tolbert's pro se declaration.

Mr. Tolbert also filed a request for a new attorney styled as an "Order of dismissal and quashing of service of process – insufficent service" on October 7, 2009, CP:47.

That Motion/Order stated:

I Hokeshina Tolbert ... order dissmissal and quashing of service of process, INSUFFICENT SERVICE. My Basis for insufficent counsel is my attorney Dana Ryan has Performed inadequately. I have asked him to schduele a incomatency hearing he has not. I've asked him to do numerous things to no avail. He has not informed me of my case's status and Refuse's to answer my and my mothers calls. I Believe he is not doing his Job as well as he could be. he has not helped me in my case. I Request to be appointed a new attorney.

The record does not reflect any action being taken on this second

pro se filing, either.

IV. Sentencing

At the sentencing hearing held March 12, 2010, the state explained that they originally agreed to recommend a sentence at the high end of the range, 220 months. But after speaking to the detectives on the case, considering the amount of help that Tolbert provided, and the fact that Tolbert was going against the "gang code" by testifying at risk of harm to himself, the state reduced their recommendation to 150 months. 3/12/10 TR:4.

The state also reviewed Tolbert's actual actions:

[T]he defendant wasn't in the car that the shooting occurred from. He did at the direction of Mr. Bluehorse, an older gang member, go to that garage and get the gun, bring it out, put it in the grass and the defendant [Mee] picked it up and went and committed the murder.

3/12/10 TR:4-5.

Tolbert's mother spoke at sentencing, and described the difficulties

her son had experienced:

He's been diagnosed with ADHD and PTSD, a couple more things, so – and he was court ordered to take meds and he wouldn't take his meds. I know that that had a lot to play – part to play in what happened because he's a really good – he's got a very good heart and he's a good baby. That's my baby, that's my last baby.

I sent him to Montana for a while with my brother but I brought him back because my brother was, I thought, too strict, abusive – to the point of abuse. ... I also suffer from addiction and I kind of got caught up in addiction. ... I know that what happened really – that it really got him, you know, it got to him because he told me, I've never seen – you don't know what I've seen, mom.

... I did a lot of praying for my son because right after that had happened, he got shot twice down on Portland Avenue and I really felt like that summer that I was going to bury my son before the summer was overI didn't approve of what he did but he's very hot headed and then not taking his meds that probably - you know, he did a lot of drinking and drugging too so, you know.

3/12/10 TR:6-7.

Tolbert also spoke and expressed his remorse for his actions. He stated that "even if I do get time, it'll give me time to rethink my ways and rethink what I was doing and be able to get my education and get back on track, start walking the right road instead of doing what I was doing out there, drinking, smoking, doing all that. And it's time to change." 3/12/10 TR:8.

The court recognized that Mr. Tolbert's testimony at Mee's trial had been "very credible and forthright," and that he had been "critical to the conviction in that case." 3/12/10 TR:8. Judge Serko adopted the lower state recommendation and sentenced Tolbert to 150 months in prison. *Id.*, at 8-9. She stated that this was an appropriate sentence because "your actions played a huge role in the death of a human being." *Id.*, at 9.

ARGUMENT

I. Mr. Tolbert's Guilty Plea Was Not Knowing, Voluntary or Intelligent

At the plea hearing, the court reviewed what Tolbert was admitting to that supported the plea: "[b]asically, it says that your role in this was providing the rifle that became the murder weapon; is that right?" Tolbert responds, "Yes, sir." 1/28/09 TR:9. This is insufficient to show that Tolbert understood the elements of the crime and how they related to the facts at issue.

A. A Defendant Must Understand Not Only the Legal Elements of the Charge, But Also How the Facts Relate to those Elements

A defendant's guilty plea must be voluntary, knowing, and intelligent. *Boykin v. Alabama*, 395 U.S. 238, 242, 89 S. Ct. 1709, 23 L. Ed. 2d 274 (1969); *In re Pers. Restraint of Isadore*, 151 Wn.2d 294, 297, 88 P.3d 390 (2004). These constitutional requirements are implemented by court rule in Washington: "The court shall not accept a plea of guilty, without first determining that it is made voluntarily, competently and with an understanding of the nature of the charge and the consequences of the plea." CrR 4.2(d).

A plea must be supported by a sufficient factual basis to be considered voluntary. *In re Evans*, 31 Wn. App. 330, 332, 641 P.2d 722 (1982). To satisfy the CrR 4.2(d) factual basis requirement, there must be sufficient evidence for a jury to conclude that the defendant is guilty and this evidence must be developed on the record at the time the plea is taken. *In re Personal Restraint of Keene*, 95 Wn.2d 203, 210, 622 P.2d 360 (1980). The defendant must not only demonstrate an understanding of the elements of the charges, but also an understanding of the law in relation to the facts for the crime of which he was charged. *State v. Rigsby*, 49 Wn. App. 912, 916, 747 P.2d 472 (1987). *See Bousley v. United States*, 523 U.S. 614, 118 S. Ct. 1604, 140 L. Ed. 2d 828 (1998) (plea invalid when defendant unaware his conduct failed to satisfy element of offense); *In re Personal Restraint of Hews*, 99 Wn.2d 80, 660 P.2d 263 (1983) (defendant must understand that his alleged criminal conduct satisfies the elements of the offense); *State v. Chervenell*, 99 Wn.2d 309, 318-19, 662 P.2d 836 (1983) (plea involuntary if defendant lacks understanding of law in relation to facts).

The factual basis requirement helps guarantee a truly knowledgeable and voluntary plea by "project[ing] the admitted misconduct against the backdrop of the violated statute, allowing a thorough and final check on the understanding of the defendant." *In re Taylor*, 31 Wn. App. 254, 258, 640 P.2d 737 (1982). When Tolbert's guilty plea was accepted by the court, the evidence established on the record was insufficient to meet this factual basis requirement of CrR 4.2(d).

B. *Mr. Tolbert Did Not Understand the Requirements* of the Law in Relation to the Facts

The elements are described in the Statement of Defendant on Plea of Guilty: "on or about the 10th day of May 2008 with intent to cause the death of another person act as an accomplice in the shooting death of Tracy Steele." CP:32. This description does not explain the meaning of the legal term "accomplice." There must be a link between Tolbert's intent, his personal actions, and the actions of others for him to be liable as an accomplice. *See generally State v. Roberts*, 142 Wn.2d 471, 14 P.3d 713 (2000); *State v. Cronin*, 142 Wn.2d 568, 14 P.3d 752 (2000). However, Tolbert was not informed about the requirements of the law in relation to these facts.

Tolbert's Statement of Defendant on Plea of Guilty reads:

On May 10, 2008, in Pierce Co Washington Michael Mee came to my cousin's house and asked for a gun. I went and got a 30-30 rifle from the garage. Michael Mee took the gun, and went to the residence where Tracy Steele was at. I was in a car following another car Michael Mee was riding in. I watched Michael Mee fire two shots at the house. Tracy Steele was hit by the bullets and died.

Jesus Cota Ancheta was driving the car Michael Mee fired the shots from. I knew Michael Mee was going to use the gun to shoot someone.

CP:39.

The statement does not say that at the time Tolbert went and got the gun, he knew Mee was going to use it to kill Tracy Steele. In fact, the state, at sentencing, described Tolbert's actions as: "He did at the direction of Mr. Bluehorse, an older gang member, go to that garage and get the gun, bring it out, put it in the grass and the defendant picked it up and went and committed the murder." 3/12/10 TR:4-5.

It is clear that Tolbert got the gun from the garage after Dan Bluehorse told him to; that Mee used that gun in the shooting; and that Tolbert did not ride in the same car as Mee on the way to the crime scene.

What is not clear is how much Tolbert heard Mee say before getting the gun; whether he thought he was getting the gun for Bluehorse, Mee, or someone else; and when in the sequence of events did he become aware that Mee was planning to shoot someone. Tolbert *might* be liable as an accomplice if *he knew at the time he retrieved the gun from the garage* that Mee planned to use it to kill another human being, and he was retrieving the gun with the purpose of assisting him accomplish that crime. However, there is no indication from the Statement of Defendant, or statements at the plea hearing, that this was the case. Tolbert agreed with the judge's summation that he "provided" the gun used in the shooting, (1/28/09 TR:8-9) although his actual role was limited to following his older cousin's direction to fetch the gun from its hiding place in the rafters of his cousin's garage (3/12/10 TR:4-5).

The recent decision in *Rosemond v. United States*, 134 S.Ct. 1240, 1249, 188 L.Ed.2d 248 (2014) has confirmed that accomplice liability can depend on the timing of the defendant's knowledge: knowledge of the principal's intent must be acquired early enough to "enable him to make the relevant legal (and indeed, moral) choice." *Id.*

Neither the prosecutor's statements nor the trial court's questions at the plea hearing make it clear that Tolbert understood the intent requirement clearly – that, *at the time he retrieved the gun*, he knew Mee intended to kill another human being with it, and that he retrieved the gun to assist in this killing.

C. Mr. Tolbert's Age and Background Weigh Against Finding His Plea Knowing, Voluntary, and Intelligent

Mr. Tolbert's youth and lack of education make it even more likely that he did not understand the legal requirements as they related to the facts.

A child's age is far "more than a chronological fact." *Eddings* v. *Oklahoma*, 455 U.S. 104, 115, 102 S. Ct. 869, 71 L. Ed. 2d 1 (1982); *accord*, *J.D.B. v. North Carolina*, 131 S.Ct. 2394, 180 L.Ed.2d 310 (2011) (holding that age is relevant when determining police custody for Miranda purposes); *Gall v. United States*, 552 U.S. 38, 58, 128 S. Ct. 586, 169 L. Ed. 2d 445 (2007); *Roper v. Simmons*, 543 U.S. 551, 569, 125 S. Ct. 1183, 161 L. Ed. 2d 1 (2005). It is a fact that "generates commonsense conclusions about behavior and perception." *J.D.B.*, 131 S.Ct. at 2403 (quoting *Yarborough v. Alvarado*, 541 U.S. 652, 654, 124 S.Ct. 2140, 158 L.Ed.2d 938 (2004) (Breyer, J., dissenting))

The Supreme Court made the following observations on the impact youth and immaturity can have on an adolescent's interaction with the legal system:

...the features that distinguish juveniles from adults also put them at a significant disadvantage in criminal proceedings. Juveniles mistrust adults and have limited understandings of the criminal justice system and the roles of the institutional actors within it. They are less likely than adults to work effectively with their lawyers to aid in their defense. ... Difficulty in weighing long-term consequences; a corresponding impulsiveness; and reluctance to trust defense counsel seen as part of the adult world a rebellious youth rejects, all can lead to poor decisions by one charged with a juvenile offense. ... These factors are likely to impair the quality of a juvenile defendant's representation.

Graham v. Florida, 560 U.S. 48, 78, 130 S.Ct. 2011, 176 L.Ed.2d 825 (2010).

Findings of the MacArthur Foundation show that a significant percentage of youth are unable to participate competently in their own trials due to their developmental immaturity.¹ Younger individuals were more likely to endorse decisions that comply with what an authority seemed to want as measured by their willingness to confess and plea bargain. *Id.* In addition, younger teens were significantly less likely to recognize the risks in various decisions, and they were less likely to comprehend the long-term consequences of their decisions.

Adolescents – like Mr. Tolbert – who are victims of emotional or physical trauma may suffer from a delay in brain maturation because of the disruption in brain development. *See* RCW 70.305.010.² This delay renders them less mature relative to their same-age peers.

Tolbert had reached the age of 18 by the time sentence was finally imposed; however it is likely that the emotional and physical traumas he had endured throughout his childhood and his mental and neurological difficulties rendered him less mature than his same age peers and less able to exhibit mature cognitive and reasoning functions. This further weighs against finding a voluntary, knowing, and intelligent plea.

¹ MacArthur Foundation Research on Adolescent Development and Juvenile Justice, Issue Brief 1: "Adolescent Legal Competence in Court." ² See also National Juvenile Justice Network, Using Adolescent Brain Research to Inform Policy: A Guide for Juvenile Justice Advocates, 2012. (citing Rebecca L. McNamee, "An Overview of the Science of Brain Development," University of Pittsburgh, May 2006.)

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