NO. 46892-1-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

HOKESHINA LEE TOLBERT, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County
The Honorable Thomas Felnagle

No. 08-1-03122-7

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK LINDQUIST Prosecuting Attorney

By JASON RUYF Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 38725

930 Tacoma Avenue South Room 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 PH: (253) 798-7400

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 10, 2008, Michael Mee was involved in a fight with several people at a barbecue. CP 3. After leaving the barbecue, Mee drove to

another residence and met Hokeshina Lee Tolbert¹ (hereinafter "Defendant"). CP 3. Defendant went into the residence and retrieved a rifle which he gave to Mee. CP 3. Mee then left that residence and Defendant followed him in a separate car. CP 3.

They traveled to the residence where the fight had occurred. CP 3. Mee fired two rounds at the people standing in the yard of the residence, one of which struck Tracy Steele in the torso. CP 3. When police arrived, the other partygoers were attempting to keep Steele alive, but he ultimately succumbed to the gunshot wound and was pronounced dead at the hospital. CP 3. Defendant admitted that he gave Mee the rifle, that he knew the rifle was going to be used to shoot someone, that he followed Mee to the shooting, and that he retrieved the rifle from Mee after the shooting. CP 4; CP 39.

The State originally charged Defendant as an accomplice with one count of murder in the first degree (RCW 9A.32.030) and one count of unlawful possession of a firearm in the second degree (RCW 9.41.040(2)(a)(iii)). CP 1-2. As Defendant was under the age of 18 at the time of the offense, his maximum potential prison term if convicted of these charges was 25 years to life. RCW 9.94A.510. However, Defendant entered

¹ In a partially published decision affirming Mee's conviction, this court stated that after Mee arrived at the residence, he and Defendant discussed how to retaliate for the earlier fight. *State v. Mee*, 168 Wn. App. 144, 150, 275 P.3d 1192 (2012).

into a plea agreement with the State where he agreed to plead guilty to one count of murder in the second degree in exchange for testifying against five codefendants. CP 41-44; 1/29/09 RP 3-4. Defendant satisfied his component of the plea agreement, and the State amended its information as stated in the plea agreement. CP 30; 3/12/10 RP 4-5.

Defendant pleaded guilty to the amended information on January 29, 2009. 1/29/09 RP 9-10. Before accepting Defendant's guilty plea, the trial court held an extensive colloquy where it outlined the implications of the defendant pleading guilty. 1/29/09 RP 5-10. Defendant stated that he had gone over the plea form with his attorney for a sufficient amount of time to understand the consequences of pleading guilty. 1/29/09 RP 5. Defendant acknowledged that he was aware he was waiving his right to a jury trial and to testify in his own defense. 1/29/09 RP 6. Finally, Defendant was informed of the maximum possible sentence for pleading guilty to murder in the second degree, and acknowledged the terms of his plea agreement with the State. 1/29/09 RP 6-7.

The trial court confirmed that the factual statement in paragraph 11 of Defendant's plea form was accurate. 1/29/09 RP 8-9. Finally, the trial court sought to confirm that Defendant was not pleading guilty out of confusion, fear, or simply because his attorney had told him to. 1/29/09 RP 9. Defendant replied by acknowledging that the court should have no reason to hesitate in accepting his plea. 1/29/09 RP 9.

At sentencing, the State reduced its recommendation from 220 months of incarceration to 150 months. 3/12/2010 RP 4-5. This reduction was due to Defendant's strict cooperation with the plea agreement in his codefendant's trials, as well as the fact that Defendant was breaking "gang code" by testifying. 3/12/10 RP 4. The trial court imposed a 150 month sentence in accordance with the State's more favorable recommendation. 3/12/10 RP 9. Defendant filed a notice of appeal. CP 65.

C. <u>ARGUMENT</u>.

1. DEFENDANT'S GUILTY PLEA WAS KNOWING, VOLUNTARY, AND INTELLIGENT AS HIS SIGNED PLEA FORM AND COLLOQUY WITH THE TRIAL COURT CONFIRM THAT HE WAS APPRISED OF THE NATURE OF THE OFFENSE AND WAS INFORMED OF THE CONSEQUENCES OF PLEADING GUILTY.

A defendant's guilty plea must be knowing, voluntary, and intelligent. *In re Isadore*, 151 Wn.2d 294, 297, 88 P.3d 390 (2004) (citing *Boykin v. Alabama*, 395 U.S. 238, 242, 89 S. Ct. 1709, 23 L. Ed. 2d 274 (1969)). When a defendant completes a written plea statement and admits to reading, understanding, and signing it, this creates a strong presumption that the plea is voluntary. *State v. Smith*, 134 Wn.2d 849, 852, 953 P.2d 810 (1998) (citing *State v. Perez*, 33 Wn. App. 258, 261, 654 P.2d 708 (1982)). If the trial court orally inquires into a matter in the plea statement,

the presumption that the defendant understands this matter becomes "well nigh irrefutable." *Perez*, 33 Wn. App. at 262.

The record contains four documents demonstrating that Defendant's plea was knowing, voluntary, and intelligent. The first of these documents is Defendant's written plea contract with the State. CP 41-44. This contract outlines the obligations and benefits Defendant incurred by making a plea agreement with the State. The second document pertaining to Defendant's plea is his Statement on Plea of Guilty. CP 32-40. The third document is the incorporated Declaration for a Determination on Probable Cause, which establishes the factual basis of Defendant's plea in tandem with his Statement on Plea of Guilty. CP 3-4. Finally, an incorporated amended information shows the reduction in charges Defendant received after testifying against his codefendants. CP 30.

a. Defendant's plea was voluntary as it was the result of his conscience choice to plead guilty as part of his plea agreement and was not the result of coercion.

A defendant's guilty plea is not involuntary where the decision to plead is a calculated move on the defendant's part to avoid what he considers a worse fate. *State v. Cameron*, 30 Wn. App. 229, 231, 633 P.2d 901 (1981) (citing *State of Missouri v. Turley*, 443 F.3d 1313, 1317 (8th Cir. 1971)). A guilty plea is only involuntary if it is obtained by mental coercion overbearing the will of the defendant. *State v. Watson*, 159 Wn.2d

162, 164-65, 149 P.3d 360 (2006) (citing *Brady v. United States*, 397 U.S. 742, 750, 90 S. Ct. 1463, 25 L. Ed. 2d 747 (1970)). Consistent with this standard, a guilty plea is only involuntary if it results from threats of physical harm or mental pressure applied to force the defendant to plead guilty under duress. *See State v. Osborne*, 35 Wn. App. 751, 754-55, 559 P.2d 905 (1983).

The record in this case demonstrates that Defendant voluntarily chose to plead guilty as a calculated move to reduce the charges filed against him. In his plea contract with the State, Defendant affirmatively agreed to plead guilty to murder in the second degree. CP 43. Defendant and his attorney signed this contract to indicate their satisfaction with its terms. CP 44. These facts demonstrate voluntariness as Defendant was fully apprised of his potential obligations under the plea contract before agreeing to assume those obligations. Defendant retained the right to reject the plea contract and exercise his right to go to trial until the moment he signed it to indicate his agreement with its terms.

Defendant's Statement on Plea of Guilty also demonstrates that his plea was voluntary. Paragraphs 8, 9, and 10 in his Statement on Plea of Guilty assert that he is pleading guilty voluntarily, that no one threatened him or otherwise coerced him into pleading guilty, and that he was not induced to plead guilty by any promise other than those obligations assumed

by the State in his plea contract. CP 39. Defendant and his attorney signed the Statement on Plea of Guilty to indicate their agreement with its contents, including paragraphs 8, 9, and 10. CP 40. Defendant signed and submitted this statement having asserted that he had read its terms and discussed them with his attorney. Included in its terms were express admissions that he was choosing to plead guilty voluntarily and without coercion. Defendant never sought to retract these admissions until after he had been sentenced.

Furthermore, Defendant's assertions that he was pleading guilty voluntarily were confirmed in his colloquy with the trial court. During this colloquy, Defendant confirmed that he and his attorney had read and discussed the plea statement. 1/29/09 RP 5. The trial court confirmed that Defendant understood his plea agreement with the State. 1/29/09 RP 7. The trial court also reiterated the consequences of pleading guilty by reminding the defendant of the maximum possible sentence for his crime, and that by pleading guilty he waived certain constitutional rights. 1/29/09 RP 6.

The trial court even provided Defendant with a final chance to assert he was pleading guilty against his will during the colloquy:

[TRIAL COURT]: All right. Now, here's the last thing I want to be sure about. I want to be sure that you don't come back later and say, well, the only reason I pled guilty was because I was confused or my lawyer told me to do it or I felt pressured because the trial date was coming up, or I was scared and I didn't really know what I was doing. I want to be sure you understand that, if you plead today, it's going to

stick, unless you break the plea agreement. Do you understand that?

[DEFENDANT]: Yes, sir.

. . .

[TRIAL COURT]: Is there any reason I should hesitate in taking your plea?

[DEFENDANT]: No, sir.

1/29/09 RP 9. This exchange represents an opportunity for Defendant to protest the voluntariness of his plea, and even provided him with examples of coercive conduct that could render his plea involuntary. However, Defendant's response confirmed his agreement with paragraphs 8, 9, and 10 of his Statement on Plea of Guilty, making the presumption that his plea was voluntary "well nigh irrefutable." *Perez*, 33 Wn. App. at 262.

The record establishes that Defendant was presented with ample opportunity to protest the voluntariness of his plea, yet he did not do so. Instead, he chose to enter into a plea agreement with the State to avoid a worse fate. Defendant affirmatively agreed to plead guilty in his plea contract, and asserted that he was pleading guilty voluntarily in his Statement on Plea of Guilty. This assertion was confirmed in his colloquy with the trial court. The record contains no evidence that his free will was ever overcome by any coercive behavior. Defendant's guilty plea was voluntary.

b. <u>Defendant's plea was knowing as he was</u> apprised of the elements of his offense and understood that his conduct satisfies those elements.

For a guilty plea to be knowing, defendants must be informed of the nature of their offense. *Isadore*, 151 Wn.2d at 298; *State v. Osborne*, 102 Wn.2d 87, 92-93, 684 P.2d 683 (1984). The defendant must be aware of the acts and requisite state of mind in which they must be performed to constitute a crime. *Osborne*, 102 Wn.2d at 93 (quoting *State v. Holsworth*, 93 Wn.2d 148, 153 n. 3, 607 P.2d 845 (1980)). Notifying a defendant of the nature of the crime to which he pleads via an information creates a presumption that the plea was knowing. *In Re The Personal Restraint of Hews*, 108 Wn.2d 596, 596, 741 P.2d 983 (1987).

The record establishes that Defendant was adequately apprised of the nature of his offense to enter a knowing guilty plea. The State notified Defendant of the nature of second degree murder via an amended information. CP 30. This amended information was incorporated into Defendant's Statement on Plea of Guilty and notified Defendant that he was being charged as an accomplice, and that he must have intentionally caused the death of another person to be found guilty of murder in the second degree. CP 30. This amended information notified Defendant of the

essential elements of his offense and raises a presumption that his plea was knowing.

Defendant's Statement on Plea of Guilty confirms that he understood how his actions satisfied the essential elements of murder in the second degree provided in the amended information. In paragraph 4(b) of his Statement on Plea of Guilty, Defendant wrote that he acted as an accomplice with the intent to cause the death of another person in the shooting death of Tracy Steele. CP 32. Defendant also described his crime in his own words in paragraph 11 of his Statement on Plea of Guilty. CP 39. In paragraph 11, Defendant wrote that:

On May 10, 2008 in Pierce Co. Washington Michael Mee came to my cousin's house and asked for a gun. I went and got a 30-30 rifle from the garage. Michael Mee took the gun and went to the residence where Tracy Steele was at. I was in a car following another car Michael Mee was riding in. I watched Michael Mee fire two shots at the house. Tracy Steele was hit by the bullets and died. Jesus Cota Ancheta was driving the car Michael Mee fired the shots from. I knew Michael Mee was going to use the gun to shoot someone.

CP 39. Defendant signed and initialed next to this written statement. CP 39.

Defendant's written statement in paragraph 11 is crafted to reflect the elements of his offense. First, Defendant admits that he provided the principal with a gun that was later used to kill someone. To be convicted as an accomplice, Defendant must understand that his criminal liability is based on him aiding the principal in the commission of a crime. RCW 9A.08.020(3)(a)(ii). Defendant's statement regarding his knowledge of the

principal's intent must be read into context of the elements contained in the incorporated amended information and paragraph 4 of the Statement on Plea of Guilty. By admitting to providing the rifle that was used to shoot the victim, Defendant acknowledged his role in the crime and the manner in which he aided the principal in committing it.

Second, Defendant admits that he knew the gun was going to be used to shoot someone. This is an important admission as Washington courts have held that firing a gun at a victim is sufficient to justify a finding of intent to kill. *State v. Hoffman*, 116 Wn.2d 51, 84-85, 804 P.2d 577 (1991) (holding that firing a weapon at a victim is sufficient to justify a finding of intent to kill). The fact that the principal shot at the victim is sufficient to find that he acted with the intent to kill, and Defendant knew the principal possessed this intent when he gave him the rifle. In this way, Defendant facilitated an intentional killing when he provided the rifle the principle used to shoot the victim.

The record establishes that Defendant was informed of the essential elements of his crime via an amended information and admitted to conduct satisfying those elements in his Statement on Plea of Guilty. As Defendant was fully apprised of the nature of his offense and understood how his actions constituted a crime, his plea was knowing.

c. Defendant's plea was intelligent as he was fully informed of the direct consequences of pleading guilty, including the waiver of constitutional rights and his potential maximum sentence.

In order for a guilty plea to be intelligent, the defendant must be informed of all the direct consequences of pleading guilty. *Isadore*, 151 Wn.2d at 298 (citing *State v. Ross*, 129 Wn.2d 279, 284, 916 P.2d 405 (1996)). Direct consequences of a guilty plea are those that represent a definite, immediate, and largely automatic effect on the defendant's punishment. *State v. Barton*, 93 Wn.2d 301, 305, 609 P.2d 1353 (1980) (quoting *Cuthrell v. Director*, *Patuxent Inst.*, 475 F.2d 1364, 1366 (4th Cir. 1973)). Direct consequences of a guilty plea include the statutory maximum sentence², the applicable standard range of sentences³, and mandatory community custody.⁴

Defendant was informed of the direct consequences of his plea both in his plea contract with the State and in his Statement on Plea of Guilty. Paragraph 6(a) of Defendant's Statement on Plea of Guilty shows that he was informed of the maximum possible sentence for a second degree murder conviction, specifically life in prison and a \$50,000 fine. CP 33. Paragraph 6(a) also displays the 123 to 220 month standard range sentence

² State v. Weyrich, 163 Wn.2d 554, 557, 182 P.3d 965 (2008).

³ State v. Walsh, 143 Wn.2d 1, 8-9, 17 P.3d 591 (2001).

⁴ State v. Turlev, 149 Wn.2d 395, 399, 69 P.3d 338 (2003).

that applied specifically to Defendant as his offender score was 0 at the time he pleaded guilty. CP 33. Finally, paragraph 6(a) also informed Defendant that he faced 24 to 48 months of mandatory community custody as a result of choosing to plead guilty. CP 33.

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